

# Dietitians in primary care: A guide for general practice

This document has been endorsed by:



# **Contents**

Background	. 2
The role of the dietitian in primary care	. 2
What dietitians do	. 2
Dietitians as first contact practitioners in primary care	. 2
Effectiveness of dietitians in primary care	. 3
Prevention	. 4
Treatment	. 4
Reducing hospital readmissions	. 5
Patient satisfaction	. 5
Managing usage of nutritional borderline substances	. 5
Pay structure	. 5
How to access a dietitian within a primary care network	. 5
Service level agreement with a local NHS trust dietetic department	. 5
Freelance dietitian working on a contract basis and or dietitian employed directly by the PCN	. 6
Dietitian employed directly by the primary care network	. 7
Implementation checklist for the PCN	. 8
Develop and agree the dietetic service to be provided	. 8
2. Job description and job specification	. 8
2. Advertise job and interview	. 8
3. Governance	. 8
4. Other considerations	. 9
Conclusion	. 9
Our commitment to you:	. 9
Your commitment:	. 9
Supporting information	10
References:	10

## **Background**

The NHS England Five Year Forward View (1) and The NHS England General Practice Forward View (2) both support the need to review and enhance the wider skills of other healthcare practitioners and professionals to support primary care.

Dietitians can fulfill the *Primary Care Workforce Commission* (3) vision, assisting with:

- managing significant parts of the primary care workload
- enabling people with long term conditions to maintain independence

In 2020, the *Network Contract Direct Enhanced Service (DES) Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme* was expanded in England to include dietitians at indicative of agenda for change pay band 7 (4). In 2021, this was updated to include dietitians at indicative of agenda for change pay band 7 and band 8a (5).

This guide compliments the NHS England and NHS Improvement Allied Health Professionals (AHPs) working in primary care reference guide for primary care networks (6) - setting out what good practice looks like and how AHPs can improve patient care.

This document was developed by the BDA to support PCNs with best practice guidance when accessing a dietitian in primary care. Contractual agreements including terms and conditions may be able to be negotiated locally in line with service needs between the dietitian and the PCN. If the dietitian would like support with this and are a member of the BDA, they can contact the trade union team: TUSecretary@bda.uk.com

# The role of the dietitian in primary care

"Improved access to dietitians will surely bring benefits. There are so many conditions where dietetic expertise can be helpful, and I can think of numerous patients who I have seen who would have benefitted from a dietetic review. More dietitians working in primary care is well overdue and cannot come soon enough. It will be fantastic if dietitians can work more closely with GPs and other primary care staff, and share their education, experience and resources"

Dr Carrie Ashby, Weight Management Lead – GPING

### What dietitians do

Registered dietitians are the only qualified health professionals that assess, diagnose and treat dietary and nutritional problems at an individual and wider public health level. Dietitians use the most up-to-date public health and scientific research on food, health and disease which they translate into practical guidance. They utilise behaviour modification methods and motivational interviewing techniques as well as innovative digital practice to enable service users to make appropriate lifestyle and food choices to manage their own conditions, and so have a significant impact on clinical outcomes.

## Dietitians as first contact practitioners in primary care

The key role requirements can be found in the *Network Contract DES – contract specification* (7). This is not a comprehensive list and PCNs should determine job descriptions based on the first contact practitioner (FCP) role, the service needs, and requirements set out in the *Network Contract DES* which outlines clinicians working at this level of practice.

These roles will progress dietetics from the traditional 'dietitian led' model (patients are referred by another healthcare professional and the clinic is run and managed by the dietitian) to the FCP model. As an FCP, the dietitian is a diagnostic clinician who sees the patient first and assesses and manages undifferentiated and undiagnosed presentations. This fulfils the requirements of the ARRS of a clinician working clinically at an advanced level of practice.

These first contact dietitians (FCD) will be able to support patients with a range of conditions. This range will include the following\*:

- Diabetes (which may include assessing levels of motivation to support identification of appropriateness for very low-calorie diet programmes)
- Weight management
- Frailty
- Functional bowel disorders and Coeliac disease

For nutrition and dietetic related conditions, the dietitian will offer first-line advice and refer onto specialist services where appropriate. For all other conditions, the dietitian will refer to the appropriate healthcare professional.

As part of this role, the dietitian may also:

- Provide training to staff within the GP practice, for example, first-line dietetic support for patients with diabetes
- Review the evidence-base to develop, update or signpost to appropriate resources for patients. These may include apps, leaflets or websites
- Assess and review appropriate prescribing of nutritional borderline substances. This
  includes oral nutritional supplements and, where competent in paediatrics, specialist
  infant formulae in those under the age of one
- Support self-care through signposting to services such as social prescribe and expert patient programmes
- Gain supplementary prescribing rights (with additional training) to review appropriate
  prescribing and where necessary, deprescribe prescription only medicines. Dietitians
  are currently undertaking this with a range of prescription only medicines which
  include, but are not limited to: insulin and oral hypoglycaemic agents, laxatives,
  pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy, proton pump inhibitors, prokinetics, bile acid
  sequestrants, anti-diarrhoeals, antiemetics, phosphate binders/alfacalcidol, and
  parenteral nutrition
- Support routine long term condition reviews
- Support the management of patients with multimorbid health conditions where there
  may be conflicting advice around nutrition therapy; for example, managing
  cardiovascular disease and malnutrition

# Effectiveness of dietitians in primary care

The references below highlight the clinical and cost effectiveness of dietitians in primary care within prevention and long-term condition management. Dietitians are also able to support pre-habilitation and rehabilitation to optimise patient outcomes.

<sup>\*</sup>This list may be expanded to include other areas of practice, such as paediatrics, dependent on the dietitians' training, experience and scope of practice.

## Prevention

#### **Diabetes**

• Diabetes prevention programmes that focus on lifestyle interventions are effective at reducing body weight and blood glucose levels. Programmes delivered by dietitians had greater weight loss outcomes (8).

## Cognitive decline

• The Mediterranean diet may protect against dementia by reducing cognitive decline (9). When appropriate, dietitians can support patients to follow evidence-based dietary patterns such as the Mediterranean diet.

#### **Treatment**

## Gastroenterology

- Gastrointestinal conditions represent one in every 12 GP consultations, with IBS being the most prevalent (10). Those with undiagnosed IBS visit their GPs ten times more frequently than matched patients (6).
- Dietetic input in IBS has shown a 36% reduction in referrals to secondary care, reduction in symptoms for 70% of patients and improvements in quality of life for 74% of patients (11).

#### Frailty

- Frailty increases the risk of falls, hospitalisation and mortality (12). Effective treatment includes a combination of protein supplementation and muscle strength training (13). Although they are two distinctive conditions, frailty and malnutrition are related (14).
- Malnutrition is estimated to affect over 3 million people in the UK. It leads to
  increased GP visits, prescription costs and referrals to secondary care (15). The
  overall cost of treating a malnourished patient is two-to-three times more than
  treating a non-malnourished patient (16). 75% of patients screened in primary care
  were at risk of malnutrition, indicating that there is likely a large cohort of at-risk
  patients in need of dietetic intervention in most general practices (14).
- Following dietetic intervention, patients improved various outcomes measures including; weight, BMI and hand grip strength. (14).

## Diabetes and overweight/obesity

- A systematic review of randomised controlled trials (17) found that dietitians in primary care were also effective at improving diabetes control, achieving reductions in weight and waist circumference as well as improving diet quality.
- Dietitians have supported the DiRECT trial (meal replacements followed by a food reintroduction programme). After 2 years, more than a third of people with type 2 diabetes saw sustained remission (18). Similarly, a smaller feasibility RCT demonstrated successful weight loss and type 2 diabetes treatment with food-based approaches delivered in primary care (19).
- Supervision of patients using total diet replacement has been shown to be effective in achieving weight loss in primary care as seen in the DROPLET trial (20). Similarly, the COUNTERWEIGHT trial showed significant weight loss by a dietitian-led, practice nurse delivered, successful weight loss programme in primary care (21).

#### Hypertension

• Dietary approaches have long been known to treat hypertension (22) and dietitians can support the delivery of these.

## Reducing hospital readmissions

• Appropriate and early frail elderly pathway interventions including dietetic input can reduce hospital readmission in patients with frailty by 67% (23).

## Patient satisfaction

Patients receiving dietetic support in primary care rated the service highly (14).

## Managing usage of nutritional borderline substances

- Significant projected total annual cost savings of £15,379 were made by a dietitian reviewing oral nutritional supplements in just 27 patients (14).
- In Northern Ireland, following dietetic assessment for patients who had not previously been seen by a dietitian, prescribing support dietitians recommended a 66% reduction or change in oral nutritional supplements with estimated total efficiencies of £535,333 over a 12-month period (24).

## Pay structure

The pay structure for dietitians will depend on the service needs and should be in line with NHS Agenda for Change as a minimum. This will reflect the level of knowledge, experience and expertise of the dietitian. It is important to note that:

- A dietitian working as a first contact practitioner is a diagnostic clinician working in primary care, at the top of their clinical scope of practice. HEE recommend first contact practitioners to be on a pay band equivalent to agenda for change band 7 or above (25).
- A dietitian working as an advanced practitioner should be working towards a pay band equivalent to agenda for change band 8a or above (25).
- If a dietitian is working at level 6 and below, they must have access to supervision from a dietitian with relevant experience and working at level 7 or above.

# How to access a dietitian within a primary care network

There are several ways to access a dietitian through DES in a PCN, these include:

- A service level agreement with a local NHS trust dietetic department this is likely to be the preferred option for most PCNs as training, profession-specific supervision and mentoring will already be in place, along with cover for annual leave, sickness and maternity leave. It also prevents potential duplication of services
- Service contract with a freelance dietitian working on a contractual basis
- A dietitian employed directly by the PCN

The HCPC requires that dietitians participate in training, supervision (continuing professional development and clinical) and mentoring. As local NHS trust dietetic departments have a structure in place to support this, this may be the preferable option for both the PCN practice and dietitian.

Below are the different routes and the advantages/considerations for each. Before deciding on a preferred route, please contact your local nutrition and dietetic department to discuss this with them.

## Service level agreement with a local NHS trust dietetic department

Primary care networks can choose to have a service level agreement for a whole-time equivalent dietitian or two part-time dietitians (to ensure annual leave is covered).

Advantages	Considerations
Dietitians would remain part of a wider dietetic team with access to training, support, and expertise in specialist areas.	It is important that the dietitian is fully integrated into the PCN to ensure effective team work.
Training, profession-specific supervision and mentoring will already be in place.	Choosing a model of two part-time dietitians job sharing (normal job-sharing rules apply), or two alternative part-time contracts, will help
The patient pathway from acute to community may be more seamless.	enable a seamless service during any annual leave or sickness and provide different skill sets.
The dietitian will be aware of current specialist dietetic services available. Avoiding duplication and ensuring the best skilled practitioner treats the patient.	
Cover for annual leave, sickness and maternity leave will be available.	
The dietitian will remain on agenda for change pay scale and therefore have continued access to employer benefits such as the NHS Pension Scheme.	

# Freelance dietitian working on a contract basis and or dietitian employed directly by the PCN

Freelance (self-employed) dietitians who specialise in primary care have a huge range of expertise in diet and nutrition. Like all UK dietitians, freelance dietitians are fully qualified, HCPC registered and most are members of the BDA with considerable first-hand experience of managing the nutritional care of patients with long term conditions. A freelance dietitian will be able to discuss the particular needs of the PCN and propose how the in-house service might run. A service contract can be set up between the PCN and the freelance dietitian. Visit <a href="https://freelancedietitians.org/">https://freelancedietitians.org/</a> to find a freelance dietitian.

Advantages	Considerations
Dietitians can fully integrate into the practice	The dietitian will be working in isolation from
team.	profession-specific peers and will need to
	consider access to profession-specific
Service contract with a self-employed dietitian	continuing professional development,
will allow flexibility to agree the number of	mentoring and supervision.
sessions required, and rates for the sessions.	
	The dietitian will not be on agenda for change
Practice employment, and health and safety	terms and conditions and will therefore need to
policies would only apply if the dietitian was	be aware that they will not have access to
employed by the PCN directly. If on a freelance	annual leave, sickness and maternity leave as

service provider contract, they would not be treated in the same way as an employee. Specific clauses relating to working arrangements would need to be built into the contract.

per NHS agenda for change terms and conditions.

We strongly suggest the PCN and dietitian communicate with the local dietetic department to prevent duplication of dietetic services.

The PCN must be aware of the statutory regulator of dietitians (HCPC) and their standards which includes ensuring access to training, supervision and mentoring.

The GP practice will need insurance in place to cover vicarious liabilities.

# Dietitian employed directly by the primary care network

The PCN could choose to employ a dietitian directly.

Advantages	Considerations
Dietitians can fully integrate into the practice team.	The PCN must be aware of the statutory regulator of dietitians (HCPC) and their standards which include ensuring access to
Practice employment, and health and safety policies would apply to the dietitian in the same way as other members of staff.	training, supervision and mentoring.  The dietitian will be working in isolation from profession-specific peers. Therefore, they will need to be supported to access profession-specific continuing professional development, mentoring and supervision, which may come from the local NHS trust nutrition and dietetic department. This would be subject to a local agreement or memorandum of understand with the trust.
	The dietitian will not be on agenda for change terms and conditions of employment and therefore the PCN will need to agree in advance with the dietitian arrangements for annual leave, sickness and maternity leave etc.
	There would be no automatic right to access the NHS pension scheme.
	We strongly suggest the PCN and dietitian communicate with the local dietetic department to prevent duplication of dietetic services.
	The GP practice will need insurance in place to cover vicarious liabilities.

# Implementation checklist for the PCN

## 1. Develop and agree the dietetic service to be provided

- a. In-line with the FCD role and based on the needs of the primary care network population and strategic objectives of the practice.
- b. Any service level agreement with the local NHS trust dietetic department should be agreed with the multidisciplinary team and clinical lead for the dietetic service.
- c. If a service contract with a freelance dietitian is chosen, this should be agreed with the MDT and freelance dietitian. We would also strongly advise considering other dietetic services available that may be provided by local NHS trusts and the referral process into these.
- d. Ensure a structured induction programme is in place and shared with the dietitian

Develop specific and measurable outcomes for the dietetic service and consider how these will be evaluated to evidence the impact of the service.

## 2. Job description and job specification

- a. It is a legal requirement that the dietitian must be HCPC registered.
- b. If accessing a dietitian through a service level agreement with the local NHS trust dietetic department, they will manage the job description, person specification and interview process.
- c. If accessing a dietitian directly, an example job description can be found here: https://www.england.nhs.uk/ahp/ahps-in-primary-care-networks/.
- d. Seek advice on what level of experience and knowledge is required to meet job specification (the local NHS trust nutrition and dietetic service may be able to offer advice on this).

## 2. Advertise job and interview

- a. The British Dietetic Association has a Dietitians Jobs website: <a href="https://www.dietitiansjobs.co.uk/">https://www.dietitiansjobs.co.uk/</a> through which dietitians commonly search for jobs, as well as NHS jobs.
- b. Your local NHS trust nutrition and dietetic service may support you with the interview process to ensure candidates have the appropriate skill, knowledge and experience. We recommend you contact them directly to ask for this support.

c.

## 3. Governance

a. Enable and agree a process for continuing professional development (CPD) requirements. We recommend the job includes a minimum of 20% CPD in line with the 20% off-the-job training requirement for apprentices <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apprenticeships-off-the-job-training">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apprenticeships-off-the-job-training</a>. The role should include training, supervision and mentoring for HCPC registration, and ongoing competent practice.

- b. Agree regular appraisal (to include CPD plan) and peer review.
- c. Dietitians working as first contact practitioners or advanced practitioners will need to provide evidence against the knowledge, skills and attributes included in the dietetic roadmap (currently in development). Once developed, this will be published on the BDA website: <a href="https://www.bda.uk.com/practice-and-education/nutrition-and-dietetic-practice/dietetic-workforce/primary-care.html">https://www.bda.uk.com/practice-and-education/nutrition-and-dietetic-practice/dietetic-workforce/primary-care.html</a>
- d. Encourage your dietitian to email the BDA <u>info@bda.uk.com</u> to join the BDA primary care discussion forum to share knowledge and experience with others working in primary care.

## 4. Other considerations

- a. It is a legal requirement that the dietitian have professional indemnity insurance (this could be provided by being a full member of the British Dietetic Association).
- b. Agree a process for requesting blood tests and investigations.
- c. Agree processes for supplementary prescribing and Patient Group Directions
- d. Agree attendance at the regular GP and MDT meetings.
- e. Agree suitable appointment times, we recommend 30 minutes.
- f. Ensure suitable clinic space and computer access are available.
- g. Ensure administration support is available.
- h. Ensure annual appraisals are undertaken.

## Conclusion

This document provides practical guidance and information enabling PCN's to secure a dietitian.

## Our commitment to you:

The BDA is committed to assist the development and promotion of the FCD in primary care. We will do this by promoting and supporting these exciting and progressive career roles through our internal channels of communication, to the current population of qualified dietitians and also dietetic students - the dietitians of the future.

#### Your commitment:

The BDA asks that:

- PCNs take this timely opportunity to include dietitians as integral members of the GP practice team, to improve the nutritional care of their PCN populations.
- Clinical Commissioning Groups and commissioners of dietetic services consider recruiting additional dietitians in primary care, to meet the demand for nutritional care in the community.

# **Supporting information**

Allied health professionals working in primary care Reference guide for primary care networks sets out what good practice looks like for AHPs in primary care, as well as employment options and practical consideration.

BDA First Contact Dietitian webpage includes further information on these roles.

<u>The Primary Care Home</u> model is a form of multispecialty community provider that aims to re-shape the way primary care services are delivered, based on local population needs. They focus on healthcare teams working together from all disciplines and encouraging partnerships across primary, secondary, social care and the third sector.

## References:

- 1. NHS England. Five Year Forward View. 2014 [cited 05 Jan 2021]. Available from: <a href="https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-five-year-forward-view/">https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-five-year-forward-view/</a>
- 2. NHS England. General Practice Forward View. 2016 [cited 05 Jan 2021]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/general-practice-forward-view-gpfv/
- 3. Primary Care Workforce Commission. The future of primary care Creating teams for tomorrow. 2015 [cited 26 August 2020]. Available from: <a href="https://napc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Future\_of\_primary\_care.pdf">https://napc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Future\_of\_primary\_care.pdf</a>
- 4. NHS England. GP contract England 2020/21. 2020 [cited 13 Jan 2021]. Available from: <a href="https://www.bma.org.uk/pay-and-contracts/contracts/gp-contract/gp-contract-england-202021">https://www.bma.org.uk/pay-and-contracts/contracts/gp-contract/gp-contract-england-202021</a>
- 5. NHS England. GP contract. 2020 [cited 28 April 2021]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/investment/gp-contract/
- 6. NHS England and NHS Improvement. Allied Health Professionals (AHPs) Allied health professionals working in primary care Reference guide for primary care networks. 2021 (cited 20 Jan 2021). Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/ahp/ahps-in-primary-care-networks/
- 7. NHS England. Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service Contract specification 2021/22 PCN Requirements and Entitlements. 2021 [cited 28 April 2021]. Available from: <a href="https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/network-contract-des-specification-2021-22/">https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/network-contract-des-specification-2021-22/</a>
- 8. Sun Y, You W, Almeida F, Estabrooks P, Davy B. The Effectiveness and Cost of Lifestyle Interventions Including Nutrition Education for Diabetes Prevention: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2017 Mar;117(3):404-421.e36. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2016.11.016. PMID: 28236962; PMCID: PMC5330213. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28236962/
- 9. Loughrey DG, Lavecchia S, Brennan S, Lawlor BA, Kelly ME. The Impact of the Mediterranean Diet on the Cognitive Functioning of Healthy Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Adv Nutr. 2017 Jul 14;8(4):571-586. doi: 10.3945/an.117.015495. PMID: 28710144; PMCID: PMC5502874. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28710144/
- 10. Thompson WG, Heaton KW, Smyth GT, Smyth C. Irritable bowel syndrome in general practice: prevalence, characteristics, and referral. Gut. 2000 Jan;46(1):78-82. doi: 10.1136/gut.46.1.78. PMID: 10601059; PMCID: PMC1727778. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10601059/

- 11. Williams M, Barclay Y, Benneyworth R, Gore S, Hamilton Z, Matull R, Phillips I, Seamark L, Staveley K, Thole S, Greig E. Using best practice to create a pathway to improve management of irritable bowel syndrome: aiming for timely diagnosis, effective treatment and equitable care. Frontline Gastroenterol. 2016 Oct;7(4):323-330. doi: 10.1136/flgastro-2016-100727. Epub 2016 Aug 1. PMID: 27761233; PMCID: PMC5036211. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27761233/
- 12. Hoogendijk EO, Afilalo J, Ensrud KE, Kowal P, Onder G, Fried LP. Frailty: implications for clinical practice and public health. The Lancet. 2019 Oct;394(10206):1365-1375. Abstract available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(19)31786-6/fulltext
- 13. Travers J, Romero-Ortuno R, Bailey J, Cooney MT. Delaying and reversing frailty: a systematic review of primary care interventions. Br J Gen Pract. 2019 Jan;69(678):e61-e69. doi: 10.3399/bjgp18X700241. Epub 2018 Dec 3. PMID: 30510094; PMCID: PMC6301364. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30510094/
- 14. Collinson A, Child J, Hickson, M. The impact of dietitians in the multi-disciplinary practice team within primary care: Final report. (2020) Plymouth: University of Plymouth. Unpublished.
- 15. British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition. Introduction to Malnutrition. 2018 [cited 05 Jan 2021]. Accessed from: <a href="https://www.bapen.org.uk/malnutrition-undernutrition/introduction-to-malnutrition?start=4">https://www.bapen.org.uk/malnutrition-undernutrition/introduction-to-malnutrition?start=4</a>
- 16. Elia M. The cost of malnutrition in England and potential cost savings from nutritional interventions (full report) 2015 [cited 22 Jan 2021]. Available at: <a href="https://www.bapen.org.uk/resources-and-education/publications-and-reports/malnutrition/cost-of-malnutrition-in-england">https://www.bapen.org.uk/resources-and-education/publications-and-reports/malnutrition/cost-of-malnutrition-in-england</a>
- 17. Mitchell LJ, Ball LE, Ross LJ, Barnes KA, Williams LT. Effectiveness of Dietetic Consultations in Primary Health Care: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2017 Dec;117(12):1941-1962. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.06.364. Epub 2017 Aug 19. PMID: 28826840. Abstract available from: <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28826840/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28826840/</a>
- 18. Lean MEJ, Leslie WS, Barnes AC, Brosnahan N, Thom G, McCombie L, Peters C, Zhyzhneuskaya S, Al-Mrabeh A, Hollingsworth KG, Rodrigues AM, Rehackova L, Adamson AJ, Sniehotta FF, Mathers JC, Ross HM, McIlvenna Y, Welsh P, Kean S, Ford I, McConnachie A, Messow CM, Sattar N, Taylor R. Durability of a primary careled weight-management intervention for remission of type 2 diabetes: 2-year results of the DiRECT open-label, cluster-randomised trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2019 May;7(5):344-355. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30068-3. Epub 2019 Mar 6. PMID: 30852132. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30852132/
- 19. Morris E, Aveyard P, Dyson P, Noreik M, Bailey C, Fox R, Jerome D, Tan GD, Jebb SA. A food-based, low-energy, low-carbohydrate diet for people with type 2 diabetes in primary care: A randomized controlled feasibility trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2020 Apr;22(4):512-520. doi: 10.1111/dom.13915. Epub 2019 Nov 25. PMID: 31709697; PMCID: PMC7079070. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31709697/
- 20. Astbury N M, Aveyard P, Nickless A, Hood K, Corfield K, Lowe R et al. Doctor Referral of Overweight People to Low Energy total diet replacement Treatment (DROPLET): pragmatic randomised controlled trial BMJ 2018; 362 :k3760 doi:10.1136/bmj.k3760. Abstract available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/362/bmj.k3760

- 21. Counterweight Project Team. Evaluation of the Counterweight Programme for obesity management in primary care: a starting point for continuous improvement. Br J Gen Pract. 2008 Aug;58(553):548-54. doi: 10.3399/bjgp08X319710. PMID: 18682018; PMCID: PMC2486382. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18682018/
- 22. Filippou CD, Tsioufis CP, Thomopoulos CG, Mihas CC, Dimitriadis KS, Sotiropoulou LI, Chrysochoou CA, Nihoyannopoulos PI, Tousoulis DM. Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) Diet and Blood Pressure Reduction in Adults with and without Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Adv Nutr. 2020 Sep 1;11(5):1150-1160. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmaa041. PMID: 32330233; PMCID: PMC7490167. Abstract available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32330233/
- 23. Nash L. Can dietitians contribute to reducing inpatient days among frail elderly people? A retrospective review of readmissions, length of stay and the impact of differences in anthropometry. Clinical Nutrition ESPEN. 2018;28:246. Abstract available from: https://clinicalnutritionespen.com/article/S2405-4577(18)30481-9/pdf
- 24. Armstrong E, Duff K, Hegarty F, Murphy S, Kane M-C, O'Hagan A et al. A force to be reckoned with. 2021 (cited 21 Jan 2021). Available from: <a href="http://nihealthcare.com/a-force-to-be-reckoned-with/">http://nihealthcare.com/a-force-to-be-reckoned-with/</a>
- 25. Health Education England. First Contact Practitioners and Advanced Practitioners in Primary Care: (Musculoskeletal) A Roadmap to Practice. 2021 [cited 20 Jan 2021]. Available from: <a href="https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/primary-care/first-contact-practitioners-advanced-practitioners-musculoskeletal">https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/primary-care/first-contact-practitioners-advanced-practitioners-musculoskeletal</a>

The information in this document has been edited and reproduced with kind permission from Health Education England - the full and original version can be found here <a href="https://www.csp.org.uk/publications/guide-implementing-physiotherapy-services-general-practice">https://www.csp.org.uk/publications/guide-implementing-physiotherapy-services-general-practice</a>



Published: 05/2021 Review Date: 04/2022

© The British Dietetic Association 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor, Interchange Place, 151-165 Street, Birmingham, B3 2TA email: info@bda.uk.com

Commercial copying, hiring or lending without the written permission of the BDA is prohibited.

bda.uk.com

